
Belhaven Town Council Meeting 
Minutes- Regular Session 
Monday, October 26, 2009 

 
Call to Order/Invocation/Pledge of Allegiance 
The Belhaven Town Council met in regular session on Monday, October 26, 2009 at 7:00 
P.M. at the Boyette Civic Center at 257 W. Pungo Street.  Adam W. O’Neal, Mayor, 
called the meeting to order with the following Council members present:  Steve W. 
Carawan, J. Nelson Guy, Mayor Pro-Tem; Howard D. Moore and Robert L. Stanley.  
Councilman Pigott was not present due to an appointment and accident.  Town Manager 
Dr. Guinn Leverett and Town Clerk Marie J. Adams were also present.  Mayor O’Neal 
stated that Mr. Johnny Donnell Clark, Deacon, with Hoggard’s Temple Church of God in 
Christ was present to give the invocation.  Mayor O’Neal stated that Hoggard’s Temple 
just celebrated the anniversary of their Minister, Mr. J. T. Hoggard which had been 
serving as a minister in Belhaven for 42 years.  Mr. Clark gave the invocation and led the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Approval of Minutes – October 12, 2009 Regular Session 
Mayor O’Neal stated that the minutes of the October 12, 2009 meeting were open for 
review and adoption.  There being no corrections to the minutes, Councilman Guy made 
the motion to adopt the October 12, 2009 Regular Session minutes.  Councilman Stanley 
seconded the motion which carried unanimously, 4 to 0. 
 
Citizens Comments 
Mayor O’Neal recognized the following:  Mr. Johnny Donnell Clark, 485 Belhaven 
Square, who thanked the attendance and support from the Mayor, Chief Clingenpeel, 
Councilman Carawan and Mr. Greg Satterthwaite with Belhaven Cable TV for his 
Minister Hoggard’s anniversary celebration held this past weekend. 
 
Mr. Phil Reynolds, 548 East Street, who stated that in the past five years he had only 
missed six Belhaven Town Council meetings  and therefore he needed some explanation 
of  a political flyer which had recently been distributed.  Mayor O’Neal stated that he was 
aware of the flyers and the (lying); and was not surprised.  Mayor O’Neal stated that he 
would review each statement one by one.   The handout which had been recently 
distributed through town was as follows: 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Belhaven Town Council Meeting 
Minutes- Regular Session 
Monday, October 26, 2009 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Belhaven Town Council Meeting 
Minutes- Regular Session 
Monday, October 26, 2009 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 



Belhaven Town Council Meeting 
Minutes- Regular Session 
Monday, October 26, 2009 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 



Belhaven Town Council Meeting 
Minutes- Regular Session 
Monday, October 26, 2009 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 



Belhaven Town Council Meeting 
Minutes- Regular Session 
Monday, October 26, 2009 

 
 
 
 
 
 
(Rebuttal) by Mayor O’Neal on the Political Information attached 1-18: 
1. (Breakwater)  
Mayor and Town Manager worked hard on breakwater project by contacting 
Congressman Walter B. Jones, Senator Elizabeth Dole.  Mayor learned that the issue of 
the breakwater needed to be pushed in order to be funded.  Former Town Manager closed 
meeting with the Corps of Engineers due to open meetings policy after representative 
with the Corps drove from Wilmington, NC for nothing.  Mayor and Town Manager 
lobbied in Washington, DC in 2008 and 2009 where they met with Senator Dole; 
Congressman Jones and the head of over the Army Corps of Engineers and in 2009 met 
with Senator Burr’s office; Mayor O’Neal and Town Manager Leverett were informed 
that the breakwater did not have enough commercial tonnage passing the breakwater to 
be considered.  Mayor O’Neal stated that a ficticious story of a jet skier being killed by 
breakwater debris which was not visible got their attention.  Now the breakwater is going 
to be replaced at no charge to the town. 
 
2. and 3. (Sewer Rehabilitation and Sewer Grant) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that the former engineering firm (Cavanaugh) had submitted both 
grant applications and both were denied.  Now, The Wooten Company, has rewritten the 
grants.  The Mayor never contacts property owners concerning grants the engineering 
firm will make contact with the property owners.  Grants are now underway. 
 
4.  (Post Office Road Widening, turning lanes and ditch tiling) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that the previous administration had budgeted $200,000 for the 
paving of Old County Road in front of the post office but due additional work was 
needed to include widening some areas and tiling the ditch for safety reasons and that the 
post office was located adjacent to the opponent’s property.  Mayor O’Neal stated that 
the previous administration had neglected the Water Street bridge as it was in bad 
condition and the fire department. 
 
5.  (Town Dockage at Wynne’s Gut) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that this project had been held one year in the permitted process by 
CAMA and was held for two years by the previous administration as nothing was 
accomplished those two years. 
 
6.  (Full Time EMS and Rescue) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that it was news to him that the service area had been expanded to 
include Pamlico Beach and Bath.  Mayor O’Neal stated that someone should give him 
that information.  Mayor O’Neal stated that the full-time EMS had been a good thing – as 
the average response time had been decreased from 12 minutes to 5 minutes.  Mayor 



Belhaven Town Council Meeting 
Minutes- Regular Session 
Monday, October 26, 2009 

 
O’Neal also stated that the citizens needed to remember that the volunteer fire and rescue 
threatened to walk out about a year ago. 
 
7.  (Town Manager – Conflicts) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that he did not know how it would be a conflict of interest for the 
Town meetings to be shown on television because the Town Manager owns the Cable 
Television Business which films the Council meetings.  Mayor O’Neal also stated that 
purchases made from Riddick & Windley Hardware (ACE) are also posted on the 
Town’s bulletin board at the Municipal Building on a monthly basis for public review.  
Mayor O’Neal stated that the erection of a porch/deck in front of Farm Boys had been 
questioned as favoritism by compromising the fire code.  Mayor O’Neal stated that the 
porch/deck was an asset to the downtown business district and was enjoyed by many 
patrons. 
 
8.  (Downtown Flood Project) 
Mayor O’Neal stated he was accused of cutting sewer to a business and stated that he has 
never had a shovel in that or any other area of Town and that some people did not want 
success.  Mayor O’Neal stated that the prior administration tried to divert the funds for 
this project to the Water Street Bridge.  Mayor O’Neal explained that the flooding on 
Main Street can be controlled as long as the tide does not overflow the creek 
embankment.  Mayor O’Neal stated that dikes were proposed to help complete the project 
but were removed due to harassment by the previous administration. 
 
9.  (Community Gardens) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that he did not tell anyone that they could not participate in the 
Community Garden and that many did get vegetables from the gardens.  Mayor O’Neal 
stated this was a first year project and that next year it would improve as Mr. Jesse 
Rodgers has volunteered to be charge of the gardens. 
 
10.  (Community Center – Swimming) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that should the opponents get elected then there will not even be a 
place for a child “to put a toe in the water”.  Mayor O’Neal stated that swimming took 
place in 2008 as there were no advisories but due to heavy rainfall in 2009 there were 
advisories against swimming. 
 
11.  (Renovation of the Fire Department) 
Mayor O’Neal stated this issue was strictly politics as the previous administration wanted 
to build a $5 million dollar building with loans which the (tax payers) would have to pay 
back.  Mayor O’Neal stated that the fire department was being renovated for an estimated 
$150,000. 
 
12.  (Electric Bills Cut 2% and 18% of Increases Absorbed) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that utility bills were cut 2% by this administration and that the 
Town has absorbed 18% in increases which saved the residents an estimated $400,000 
and that made the Town’s electric rates average rather than high now. 



Belhaven Town Council Meeting 
Minutes- Regular Session 
Monday, October 26, 2009 

 
 
13.  (Tiling of Pantego Street) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that he could not believe that some complained about the tiling of 
ditches on Pantego Street as it was unsafe for children to walk on the sidewalks as the 
ditches were a harbor for snakes. 
 
14.  (Overgrown Lot Maintenance) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that the properties being mowed are mostly heir property (with 
several owners) and that the property maintenance fees (liens) will be placed on 
properties, due to the expense for doing such.  Mayor O’Neal informed the public that 
most of the properties also owe back taxes so in all probability they may be foreclosed on 
in the future.  Mayor O’Neal spoke of the importance of mowing overgrown properties 
throughout the town not just in certain areas of town. 
 
15.  (Out of Town Sewer) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that the idea that he and Councilman Carawan had 400 home sites 
which they had sold that they wanted connected to the sewer is a “complete fairy tale, a 
lie”.  Mayor O’Neal explained that the sewer agreement that his opponent crafted and 
that he (Dr. Boyette) defended in deposition aids the developer.  Mayor O’Neal thanked 
Turnpike, as they saw there was a problem with changes in mediation, with the previous 
sewer agreement. 
 
16.  (Secured Fishing Area with NC Department of Transportation) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that Town Manager Leverett had contacted him concerning going to 
Raleigh to meet with the Department of Transportation (DOT) concerning the 
replacement of the Pantego Creek Bridge and securing some kind of fishing pier/landing, 
etc.  Mayor O’Neal explained that the meeting was not just with the 5 DOT departments 
but with 7 other state agencies involved in the bridge replacement.  Mayor O’Neal stated 
at that meeting DOT and other agencies did not even want to leave the landing for a 
possible fishing pier.  Mayor O’Neal pleaded that the people in Belhaven who fish from 
the banks of the bridge are fishing for supper, not pleasure.  This information seemed to 
open the eyes of those agencies, and after some discussion with CAMA the agreement 
resulted in the landing being left for the erection of a fishing pier. 
 
17.  (Lee Street Paving) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that about six families are adjacent to the end of Lee Street that was 
paved and stated that Elm Street needed paving also with about four residences. 
 
18.  (Commercial Zoning – Pantego Street) 
Mayor O’Neal stated that the part of the zoning ordinance which had been drafted under 
the direction of the previous administration was written to regulate what color your house 
was painted.  Mayor O’Neal stated that the previous administration had thirty years to 
implement a commercial zone on Pamlico Street and had not implemented. 
 



Belhaven Town Council Meeting 
Minutes- Regular Session 
Monday, October 26, 2009 

 
Mayor O’Neal stated that the only thing the previous administration accomplished other 
than the elevation project was the Wynne View Building which has left the Town with 
$360,000 in liability. 
 
Mayor O’Neal stated that too much was asked of the heroes (volunteers) on the former 
volunteer rescue department as for the final year there were about 350 calls that 3 -4 
volunteers answered. 
 
Mayor O’Neal stated that the new acronym for V.O.T.E. is don’t be a Victim of the Elite. 
 
Mayor O’Neal also praised the support of the Council in turning the Police Department 
around.  Mayor O’Neal stated that the implementation of a recall election provision could 
require an election when 25% of the voters and have signed a recall petition.    Mayor 
O’Neal had asked his opponent five times to support this to no avail.  Mayor O’Neal 
stated that anonymous complaints were being sent to the real estate commission against 
him. 
 
North Carolina Department of Transportation – Transportation Improvement Plan 
(TIP) Municipal Agreement – Project B-3611 (Replacement of Bridge 77 over 
Pantego Creek on NC Hwy 99) Authorization for Mayor to Sign Agreement 
Mayor O’Neal stated that the Department of Transportation (DOT) needed an agreement 
with the Town to replace the bridge of Pantego Creek on NC Hwy 99 leading into Town.  
Mayor O’Neal stated that the execution of this agreement was needed.  Councilman 
Carawan made the motion authorizing the Mayor to sign the TIP Municipal Agreement 
for Project B-3611 on behalf of the Town of Belhaven.  Councilman Moore seconded the 
motion which carried unanimously, 4 to 0. 
 
Belhaven Recreation Advisory Committee – Appointments 
Mayor O’Neal stated that the Recreation Advisory Committee needed two appointments 
which were brought before the Council at the last meeting.   Councilman Carawan stated 
that the appointment was scheduled for this meeting to give anyone who wanted to serve 
in this capacity to make it known.  Councilman Stanley made the motion to appoint Mr. 
Georgie Baker to fill the (out of town) unexpired term which will expire March 2011 and 
to appoint Mrs. Sonya Midgette to fill the unexpired (in-town) term which will expire 
March 2010.  Councilman Guy seconded the motion which carried unanimously, 4 to 0. 
 
New HVAC System for the Chamber of Commerce Building 
Mayor O’Neal stated that three bids had been received to replace the HVAC system at 
the Town owned Chamber of Commerce Building.  The bids were as follows: 
 
Pamlico Heating and Cooling 
327 Loop Road 
Behaven, NC  27810  2.5 ton unit – 13 seer   $3,148.80 
 
 



Belhaven Town Council Meeting 
Minutes- Regular Session 
Monday, October 26, 2009 

 
 
John R. White  
Air Conditioning and Electrical 
374 Cattlelot Lane 
Belhaven, NC  27810  2.5 ton unit – 13 seer   $3,175.00 
 
Corey 
PO Box 787 
Williamston, NC  27892 3.0 ton unit – 13 seer   $3,294.00 
 
Councilman Guy stressed the need to keep the bid local.  Councilman Guy made the 
motion to award the bid to replace the HVAC System at the Chamber Building to 
Pamlico Heating and Cooling in the amount of $3,148.80.  Councilman Carawan 
seconded the motion which carried unanimously, 4 to 0. 
 
Report of Crime Index (Statistics) 
Mayor O’Neal recognized Police Chief, Mr. Fred Clingenpeel who gave a report on the 
Crime Index and Statistics on Belhaven as compared to other Towns with populations 
around 2,000. 



Belhaven Town Council Meeting 
Minutes- Regular Session 
Monday, October 26, 2009 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Belhaven Town Council Meeting 
Minutes- Regular Session 
Monday, October 26, 2009 

 
 

The audience and the Mayor and Council applauded Chief Clingenpeel for a great report 
on “low” crime.  The Mayor thanked Chief Clingenpeel for a “great job” and praised the 
department’s visibility, foot patrols and professionalism. 
 



Belhaven Town Council Meeting 
Minutes- Regular Session 
Monday, October 26, 2009 

 
Town Manager’s Report 
Town Manager Leverett reported briefly on the following issues:  Water Street Bridge 
Repair/Replacement – after many delays by the State the contract will be let January 
2011 to be completed before the sunsets in 2013; North Carolina League of 
Municipalities Meeting (NCLM) – stated the he and the Finance Officer, Mr. Kyle 
DeHaven have been attending the NCLM Convention which is being held in Greenville 
(for the first time east of I-95).  Town Manager Leverett stated that he met Ms. Sharon 
Edmondson of the State Treasurer’s Office.  Mayor O’Neal stated that Ms. Edmondson 
was instrumental in the Town getting a Cost Allocation Study. 
 
Miscellaneous Council Comments/Concerns  
Councilman Carawan stated that he was reviewing the monthly reports submitted by the 
department heads and was really impressed with the detailed information; he also praised 
the water and sewer departments for their hard work on the drainage problem with the 
installation of the pump, etc.  Councilman Carawan stated that these departments worked 
diligently in 95 degree weather.  Councilman Carawan stated that some citizens even 
approached these employees to quit work with a “Cease and Desist” Letter).  Mr. 
Carawan stressed his disgust with those citizens who are always complaining, sniping 
and always filming the Town and asked that they “get a life”.  Councilman Carawan 
stated that for four years of stagnation he was dead set against both sewer deals.  
Councilman Carawan also stated that the Town had $3 million in saving and that equated 
to $1,530.00 in saving per man, woman or child in Belhaven, of that the utility rates were 
decreased and the increases absorbed by the Town.  Councilman Carawan also stated that 
he had reviewed some old newspaper articles from the Washington Daily News dated 04-
06-2006 concerning the Panelized Housing Project and the promise of jobs and the fund 
of $3.75 million in hand.  Councilman Carawan raised the question.  Where is the 
money? 
Councilman Carawan stated that the proposed site for this panelized housing plant was 
overgrown. 
 
Mayor O’Neal stated that the pump on Main Street to deter flooding in the streets could 
not stop tide water; that a dike system was also proposed several years ago and was 
deterred by the opponent and his supporters in which the DOT was “scared off”. 
 
Adjournment 
There being no further business, Mayor O’Neal declared the meeting adjourned at 8:16 
P.M. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Marie J. Adams, CMC 
Town Clerk 
 
 


